FILED

Feb 16, 2017

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

NO.94137.8

Court of Appeals, Division III No. 33718-9-III

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Petitioner,

v.

#### VERDA LEE CROSSWHITE,

Respondent.

### DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM MCGINTY Assistant Attorney General WSBA #41868 OID #91021 P.O. Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6537 WilliamM1@atg.wa.gov

####

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Vulnerable adults deserve the protection afforded them by law. But the Court of Appeals decision in this case greatly diminishes their ability to take advantage of protections granted by the legislature. It does so by misconstruing the statutory definition of "abuse," creating a conflict among Court of Appeals opinions, and misapplying even the incorrect standard it announced. By imposing a showing of culpability not required by the statute in order to prove abuse, the Court of Appeals effectively increased the risk that an abuser will avoid an abuse finding, thereby endangering vulnerable adults. The Legislature chose to balance the competing interests in favor of vulnerable adults; the Court of Appeals reversed that balance. Because the definition of abuse is used in many different contexts, this decision will have unintended consequences, all of which further jeopardize vulnerable adults. For instance, vulnerable adults will be less able to obtain protection orders and mount actions for damages against their abusers. Mandatory reporters will be less likely to make reports of possible abuse. And vulnerable adults will be more likely to be subjected to coercion by those who disagree with their decisions.

The Court of Appeals decision also jeopardizes vulnerable adults by artificially narrowing the harms that can result in an abuse finding to only "injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment." This leaves vulnerable adults unprotected from broad swaths of abusive conduct. By construing the definition of "abuse" in RCW 74.34.020(2) so narrowly, the Court of Appeals diminished every protection within the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act, chapter 74.34 RCW.

The protection of vulnerable adults presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Division Two's decision in *Goldsmith v. Dep't of Social and Health Servs.*, 169 Wn. App. 573, 280 P.3d 1173 (2012).

Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision contradicts Washington Supreme Court precedent by applying a more searching version of the substantial evidence test where the administrative law judge and the review judge disagreed about any fact.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department of Social and Health Services petitions for review of the published decision of Division Three of the Court of Appeals, Verda Lee Crosswhite v. Washington State Department of Social and

Health Services, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, \_\_ P.3d \_\_ (2017), filed January 17, 2017 (attached as Appendix A).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The definition of abuse in RCW 74.34.020(2) requires a "willful action or inaction that inflicts injury." Did the Court of Appeals err when it imposed an additional requirement of knowledge and/or specific intent to inflict injury?
- 2. The definition of abuse in RCW 74.34.020(2) identifies four general types of harm—"injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation or punishment"—and additional specific types of harm, such as physical mistreatment, harassment, coercion, exploitation and the use of restraints. Did the Court of Appeals err when it limited the harms that can result in a finding of abuse to the four general harms?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err when, contrary to decisions of this Court, it imposed a more searching test for substantial evidence where a review judge replaces factual findings made by an administrative law judge?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Vulnerable Adult Jodi And Verda Crosswhite

Jodi1 is a vulnerable adult who has several medical and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Vulnerable adults will be referred to by their first names only to protect their privacy. See RCW 74.34.095. No disrespect is intended.

psychological conditions, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, arthritis, obesity, and diabetes. CP 2, 68, 102, 140. Jodi uses a wheelchair, requires extensive assistance with activities of daily living, and has frequent falls. CP 2, 130. Verda Crosswhite worked for Jodi as a caregiver for a short period of time, between six weeks to two months. CP 2, 97, 130.

#### B. Ms. Crosswhite Berated Jodi In A Crowded Doctor's Office And Berated Jodi After Jodi Asked Ms. Crosswhite To Stop

On August 1, 2013, Jodi had an appointment with Dr. Lundgren at Apple Valley Family Medicine. CP 2, 68. After Jodi was finished with her appointment with Dr. Lundgren, an assistant wheeled Jodi to the front desk to check out and to schedule a follow-up appointment. CP 2, 118. Immediately, Ms. Crosswhite began to berate Jodi in a loud and rude voice about whether the doctor was told about the "junk food [Jodi] kept on her window sill," her "bad" eating habits, and how Jodi was not controlling her diabetes. CP 3, 69, 118-19. Ms. Crosswhite's yelling caused Jodi to become upset and cry. CP 3.

When Jodi asked Ms. Crosswhite to stop, Ms. Crosswhite continued to yell at Jodi. CP 3, 69. Jodi, visibly shaken and embarrassed, kept asking Ms. Crosswhite to stop. CP 3, 105. Ms. Crosswhite's response was, "I don't care, it needs to be said." CP 3, 74, 105. Ms. Crosswhite then added that she was going to quit being Jodi's caregiver and leave Jodi

(who was in a wheelchair) at the doctor's office. CP 3, 69. Jodi responded by saying, "You can't leave me here. That's abandonment." CP 3, 152. Ms. Crosswhite continued to publicly berate Jodi until a medical assistant stepped in and told Ms. Crosswhite that she needed to stop. CP 3, 119.

Jodi was "emotionally destroyed" by Ms. Crosswhite's rant. CP 4, 69. According to Jodi, if Ms. Crosswhite had issues with her, she should have sat down with her and her case manager to privately discuss them rather than "publicly humiliate her." CP 69.

## C. The Adult Protective Services Finding And The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals

Adult Protective Services investigated and determined that Ms. Crosswhite mentally abused Jodi. CP 60-62. At the first level of appeal, an administrative law judge (ALJ) reversed the finding of mental abuse. CP 32. DSHS filed a Petition for Review to the Board of Appeals (Board), which reversed the ALJ and upheld the finding of mental abuse. CP 4-14, 25-34. The Board applied the regulatory definition of "willful" in WAC 388-71-0105. CP 9-10. It defines "willful" as "the nonaccidental action or inaction by an alleged perpetrator that he/she knew or reasonably should have known could cause harm, injury or a negative outcome." WAC 388-71-0105. In its Final Order, the Board found that Ms. Crosswhite's action was not accidental and that Ms. Crosswhite "could tell that Jodi was upset, because [Jodi] was crying and distraught." CP 8, 10.

On judicial review, the superior court affirmed the Board, except for reversing a finding of fact that Ms. Crosswhite continued to berate Jodi in the parking lot of the doctor's office for 30 to 45 minutes.<sup>2</sup> CP 223-37.

A divided panel of the Court of Appeals held that the regulatory definition of "willful" exceeded the Department's statutory authority for two reasons. *Id.* at 15-19. First, the part of the definition that defined willful as action that the actor "knew or reasonably should have known" could cause harm was contrary to the statute because the court held that the word "willful" requires actual knowledge that the action will result in injury. *Id.* at 17. Second, the part of the "willful" definition that added "negative outcome" to the type of harm that could support a finding of abuse was also contrary to statute because the statute only allows an abuse finding upon a showing of "injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment." *Id.* at 19. The court did not invalidate the part of the definition defining "willful" as "nonaccidental" holding that it was not inconsistent with the statute "if properly construed to require knowing infliction of a statutory harm." *Id.* at 15.

Rather than remanding to the agency to apply the court's enunciation of the correct legal standard, the court applied its construction of the statute to the facts of the case. The Court of Appeals held that "the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Department acknowledged on appeal that there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.

lack of substantial evidence that Ms. Crosswhite intended to inflict injury" was dispositive. *Id.* at 24. The court held that because Ms. Crosswhite acted "out of concern and frustration" she did not knowingly inflict injury. *Id.* at 29-30.

A dissenting opinion would have affirmed the Department's finding or remanded the case for further administrative proceedings. Slip op. at 1 (J. Korsmo, dissenting). Judge Korsmo would have held that "[WAC 388-71-0105], as construed by the review judge, correctly sets forth the legislative intent requiring a willful action as the cause of the victim's harm." *Id.* at 5. Even if the review judge had applied the incorrect standard, however, Judge Korsmo would have remanded the case for a new hearing on the correct standard. *Id.* at 1-2.

#### D. The Court of Appeals Applied A More Searching Version Of The Substantial Evidence Standard Where It Determined The Review Judge Disagreed With The Administrative Law Judge

Applying federal case law interpreting the federal Administrative Procedure Act, the Court of Appeals held that "when a reviewing officer reverses an ALJ on factual matters, case law holds that 'we examine the disagreement with a gimlet eye." *Id.* at 22 (quoting *Aggregate Indus. v. Nat'l Labor Relations Bd.*, 824 F.3d 1095, 1100 (D.C. Cir. 2016)).

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be accepted because the issues presented are issues of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court,

the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a previous published decision of the Court of Appeals and, as to the substantial evidence standard applied by the Court of Appeals, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court. See RAP 13.4(b).

## A. Protecting Vulnerable Adults Is An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance That Is Undermined By The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals

The decision below narrowly interpreted the definition of "abuse" in RCW 74.34.020(2), contrary to the statute's language and legislative intent to protect vulnerable adults. The definition of abuse<sup>3</sup> determines how protected vulnerable adults are and applies to situations beyond interactions between vulnerable adults and caregivers. A narrow definition of abuse makes it more difficult for a vulnerable adult to obtain a protection order. *See* RCW 74.34.110. It also narrows the circumstances in which mandatory reporters must report suspected abuse. *See* RCW 74.34.035(1). A narrow definition of abuse also impairs a vulnerable adult's ability to prevail in an action for damages based on allegations of abuse. *See* RCW 74.34.200. It also limits the circumstances in which DSHS must conduct a fatality review of certain vulnerable adults, who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While this case deals with the version of RCW 74.34.020 that existed prior to amendments made in 2015, the issues in this case apply with equal force to the current statutory language. In both the former and current versions of the statute, abuse "means the willful action or inaction that inflicts injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment on a vulnerable adult." *Compare* RCW 74.34.020(2) (2016) with former RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014).

were receiving services from DSHS and may have died as a result of abuse. *See* RCW 74.34.300. Finally, narrowly interpreting the definition of abuse limits DSHS's ability to protect clients from the harmful behaviors by providers and caregivers. *See* RCW 74.39A.056(2).

The Court of Appeals decision narrowly interpreted the definition of abuse, thereby reducing the protection of vulnerable adults, in two ways. First, it erroneously interpreted the definition of "abuse" to include a requirement that the alleged abuser knowingly caused harm to a vulnerable adult. The *Crosswhite* opinion then, in applying this requirement of knowledge, allowed the good motives of an alleged abuser to provide a defense to abusive conduct. Second, the decision interprets the statute to limit the kinds of harm that can support a finding of abuse to four types of harm, despite the fact that the statute includes additional types of harm that constitute abuse. Both of these constructions were in error and made vulnerable adults in Washington less safe.

1. Abuse As Defined In RCW 74.34.020(2) Does Not Require Specific Intent Or Knowledge To Cause Harm And The Court Of Appeals Endangered Vulnerable Adults By So Construing It

The statutory definition of abuse requires "willful action or inaction that inflicts" a statutory harm. RCW 74.34.020(2). The statute does *not* require any measure of intent to cause harm, only that the action or inaction be willful. *Id.* The decision below first erred by requiring that

an alleged abuser "knowingly inflict injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation or punishment." Slip op. at 10. The decision below then compounded its error by requiring proof that the alleged abuser "intended to inflict injury." Id. at 24 ("We find the lack of substantial evidence that Ms. Crosswhite intended to inflict injury to be dispositive." (emphasis added)). The court cited Ms. Crosswhite's "concerns, motives, and intent," which were to benefit Jodi, in determining that her conduct was not "willful." Id. at 30. This was despite the uncontested facts that Jodi was crying during Ms. Crosswhite's rant and that Ms. Crosswhite continued yelling at Jodi even after Jodi asked Ms. Crosswhite to stop. See CP 3. This will allow abusers to argue that in order to commit abuse, they must have a specific intent, or motive, to cause harm—not only the knowledge that the Crosswhite opinion articulated as the rule. Specific intent to cause harm is one of the highest degrees of culpability known to the law. See RCW 9A.08.010. The statute does not impose such a requirement, and requiring specific intent to cause harm for a finding of abuse endangers vulnerable adults by allowing an accused abuser to mount a defense that he or she was acting out of "concern and frustration." See slip op. at 30. This refuge for the accused abuser is created at the expense of the safety of vulnerable adults.

///

Fundamentally, the Court of Appeals erred by construing abuse to require a willful action to inflict injury where the statute requires only a "willful action or inaction that inflicts injury." RCW 74.34.020(2) (emphasis added). As the dissenting opinion noted, "[T]he only part of the statute that needs to be willful is the action that brings about the prohibited outcome." Slip op. at 5 (Korsmo, J., dissenting). Similarly, the Goldsmith court construed the definition of abuse to require only that a person act "and, in doing so, cause[] injury." Goldsmith, 169 Wn. App. at 586.4

It is not uncommon for a statute to prohibit an intended action only when the intended act results in some consequence—even if the consequence itself was not intended. For instance, second degree assault by battery requires an intentional touching that only recklessly causes injury. State v. Esters, 84 Wn. App. 180, 185, 927 P.2d 1140 (1996). Similarly, in State v. Ducker, 27 S.W.3d 889 (Tenn. 2000), the Supreme Court of Tennessee construed a child abuse and neglect statute with wording similar to Washington's definition of vulnerable adult abuse. The statute defined child abuse as "knowingly" "treat[ing] a child under eighteen (18) years of age in such a manner as to inflict injury." Id. at 894. The court held that the mens rea of "knowingly" applied to the actus reas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While the action must be an "improper action," what makes the action improper, as held in *Goldsmith*, is that it is undertaken in circumstances where the actor knew or reasonably should have known that it would cause injury. *See Goldsmith*, 169 Wn. App. at 577, 585-86.

of "treats." *Id.* at 896. Proof that the defendant knowingly caused harm, therefore, was not required even though harm was an essential element of the offense. *Id.* Like second degree assault and like the child abuse statute in Tennessee, abuse of a vulnerable adult has an intent requirement for the act that differs from the intent requirement for the result of that act.

The Department's rule, far from expanding the punitive reach of the abuse definition as the Court of Appeals held, slip op. at 17, actually narrows it. WAC 388-71-0105<sup>5</sup> requires a "nonaccidental action or inaction" that the actor "knew or reasonably should have known would cause harm, injury, or a negative outcome." The Department's rule, therefore, requires a mental state analogous to negligence as to the result of abusive conduct in addition to the intent to do the act itself. This rule appropriately protects vulnerable adults consistent with legislative intent and does not punish innocent conduct. Under the Department's rule, where a person accidentally hurts a vulnerable adult there is no abuse. Also, where a person does not know, or reasonably would not know, that his or her conduct will cause harm no abuse occurs. But, where a person should know that his or her intentional acts will cause harm, abuse may be found.

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Department has similar definitions of "willful" in several other rules. See, e.g. WAC 388-76-10000 (applicable to adult family homes); see also WAC 388-78A-2020 (applicable to assisted living facilities). After the Crosswhite decision, if this Court does not accept review, each of these rules will be invalid.

In contrast, the *Crosswhite* rule undermines the protections afforded to vulnerable adults. For instance, in order to get a protection order vulnerable adults would have to prove their abusers subjectively intended to hurt them. See RCW 74.34.110(2) (requiring a showing that abuse occurred in order to obtain a vulnerable adult protection order). The defendant to such an action could prevail on a defense that, even though the vulnerable adult was hurt by the defendant's actions, the defendant was acting out of "concern and frustration" and therefore did not commit abuse. See slip op. at 29-30. Similarly, the Crosswhite rule frustrates the intent of the legislature that reports of possible vulnerable adult abuse be liberally made. RCW 74.34.035 allows for both mandatory and permissive reports of vulnerable adult abuse. This Court has held that failure to make a mandatory report subjects a person to an action for damages. Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home, 185 Wn.2d 532, 565, 374 P.3d 121 (2016). But a mandatory report must only be made if the reporter has "reasonable cause to believe that . . . abuse . . . has occurred." RCW 74.34.035(1). If abuse requires an intent to cause harm, then the mandatory reporter must have reasonable cause to believe that the alleged abuser intended to inflict injury before a report becomes mandatory. Thus, a mandatory reporter will have a defense to an action for failing to report if he or she had no information that the alleged abuser intended to cause harm.

This Court should accept review because, by ignoring the text of the statute and the general statutory scheme, the Court of Appeals endangered vulnerable adults. This is an issue of substantial public interest both because of its broad and potentially harmful impact on a vulnerable population and because it has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts and administrative tribunals. See State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005); see also State Dept. of Soc. and Health Servs. v. Karanjah, No. 48666-1-II (pending); see also In re Aleksentsev, No. 31255-1-III, 2014 WL 1878459 (Wash. Ct. App. May 8, 2014 (unpublished)).

## 2. The Court Of Appeals Limited Abusive Conduct To Four Kinds Of Harm When The Statute Defines Abuse As Including Several Additional Harms

The Court of Appeals also erred in limiting the kinds of harm that can result in an abuse finding to only "injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment." *See* slip op. at 11; RCW 74.34.020(2). The statute defining "abuse" contemplates a panoply of abusive harms, RCW 74.34.020(2), and the Court of Appeals arguably leaves broad swaths of vulnerable adults unprotected.<sup>6</sup>

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