RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/20/2017 1:10 pm

Supreme Court No. 941378

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals No. 33718-9 - III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES

Appellant

٧.

VERDA LEE CROSSWHITE

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Jacquelyn High-Edward WSBA #37065 Co-Counsel for Appellant

Northwest Justice Project 1702 W. Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 324-9128 Elisabeth Tutsch WSBA #27301 Co-Counsel for Appellant

Northwest Justice Project 311 N. 4th St., Suite 201 Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 574-4234

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court should not accept review as it does not present a matter of substantial public interest, it does not conflict with any published decision, and the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review when it determined substantial evidence does not support the Department Review Judge's finding of fact.

A. THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

The Court should deny review as this case does not involve a substantial public interest or impair the State's interest in protecting vulnerable adults. In particular, the Court of Appeals' decision does not implicate a substantial public interest because: (1) the Department conceded a case dispositive element; (2) the statute in question has been superseded; (3) vulnerable adults are not less protected because of the decision; (4) a decision from this Court is not required to avoid unnecessary confusion; (5) the court had wide discretion to reverse or remand the case, and did not abuse such discretion; and (6) the court correctly applied the substantial evidence test.

¹ The Court of Appeals decision outlines the facts of this case in both the "Facts and Procedural Background" section and Section II, p. 24-33 of the decision.

 The Court Should Deny Review Because the Department's Concession, that the Term "Negative Outcome" Exceeds its Statutory Authority is Dispositive.

In its Petition for Discretionary Review, the Department concedes that the term "negative outcome" exceeds its statutory authority. Petition for Review, p. 14, fn. 6. Since this concession is case dispositive, this Court should deny review.

Whether the victim was harmed, is an essential element in a finding of abuse against an alleged perpetrator. RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014). As defined in the AVAA, harm exists where the Department can show injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment. RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014). Without a finding of harm, there is no basis for a finding of mental abuse. RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014).

The Department's regulation inappropriately expanded the definition of harm to include "negative outcome." WAC 388-71-0105. The Court of Appeals found that the term "is not only outside the unambiguous scope of the statute but is hopelessly vague." Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., No. 33718-9-III, slip op. at 19 (Div. III, 2017) (published). The Department has conceded the term exceeds its statutory authority. Petition for Review, p. 14, fn. 6.

At no point in Ms. Crosswhite's case has there been a finding of harm under the controlling statute. Neither the ALJ, nor the Review Judge, made a finding that Ms. Crosswhite committed injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment toward the vulnerable adult, and the record does not support such a finding. CP 4-14, 35-42. Rather, the Review Judge entered only a finding that Ms. Crosswhite's behavior caused Jodi to suffer a "negative outcome," a finding the Department concedes exceeds its statutory authority. CP 13.

Since the harm element is essential to entering a finding of mental abuse, any decision in this case will not affect the outcome of the facts presented – in short, no statutorily defined mental abuse occurred. As such, the case does not pose an issue of significant public interest.

2. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Legislature has Superseded the Statute in Question.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case interprets a statute that has been superseded, and reviewing such a decision does not constitute a significant public interest. In 2015, the Legislature significantly amended the AVAA, including the definition of mental abuse. RCW 74.34.020(2)(c) (2015); Laws of 2015, ch. 268. This is

particularly pertinent to the Department's challenge that the decision "ignores a panoply of abusive harms" addressed in subsection 4 below. Petition for Review, p. 14.

If the Department seeks to change the statutory definition, its remedy is with the Legislature. It serves no public interest for this Court to review a Court of Appeals' decision interpreting a superseded statute.

3. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Crosswhite Decision Does Not Make Vulnerable Adults Less Safe.

Despite the Department's hyperbolic claims that the Crosswhite decision will cause immeasurable harm, a correct reading of the AVAA does not make vulnerable adults less safe. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the statute requires proof of intent to harm, before the Department can impose a finding of abuse, which carries significant, permanent penalties.

The Legislature's intent in enacting the AVAA was to recognize there are vulnerable adults who are subjected to abuse, neglect, financial exploitation, and abandonment, and are unable to protect themselves due to being homebound or mentally or physically incapacitated. RCW 74.34.005. The purpose of the AVAA was to organize in one chapter, the various provisions dealing with

vulnerable adults, and empower the Department and law enforcement agencies to receive reports of abuse, neglect, financial exploitation, and abandonment, and to provide protective services in the least restrictive environment. RCW 74.34.005. The *Crosswhite* decision does nothing to alter the intent of the Legislature, or impair the Department from receiving and investigating reports, and providing protective services to vulnerable adults.

The Department's list of potential, horrible impacts the *Crosswhite* decision will have on the safety of vulnerable adults is exaggerated and patently false. Rather, it appears as if the Department simply rejects the idea that the statute allows individuals to mount a defense before a lifetime finding of abuse can be entered against them.² Whether the potential defense has merit, is a factual determination left to the trier of fact.

The Department further states, without support, that, "[t]his refuge for the accused abuser is created at the expense of the safety of vulnerable adults." Petition for Review, p. 10. It opines this might result in lesser protection in two situations: (1) a petition for a Vulnerable Adult Protection Order (VAPO); and (2) a civil action

² The Department argues that requiring specific intent "endangers vulnerable adults by allowing an accuser to mount a defense that he or she was acting out of 'concern and frustration.'" Petition for Review, p. 10.

against a mandatory reporter for failure to report. The Department wholly fails to explain or demonstrate how applying the correct statutory definition of abuse diminishes protection in those, or any other, contexts.

In order to obtain a VAPO, the vulnerable adult must show that he or she has "been abandoned, abused, financially exploited or neglected *or is threatened* with abandonment, abuse, financial exploitation, or neglect by the respondent." RCW 74.34.110(2) (emphasis added). Unlike a finding of abuse or neglect, a VAPO can be entered *prior* to any harm from abuse occurring.³ RCW 74.34.110(2). Simply stated, the legal standard for a VAPO is substantially different than the standard for a finding of mental abuse. Because of the different legal standards, the *Crosswhite* decision will not impair a person's ability to obtain protection through a VAPO.

The Department's extraordinary speculation that the Crosswhite decision will endanger vulnerable adults by making mandatory reporters less likely to report suspected abuse is not supported or persuasive. First, and foremost, the Department has failed to show any correlation between the Crosswhite decision and

³ Such prevention of harm is consistent with the Domestic Violence Prevention Act. RCW 26.50.

a defense to a civil action for failing to report abuse.

Second, the *Crosswhite* decision does not affect the standard under which mandatory reporters must make reports. RCW 74.34.035. Mandatory reporters must make reports where they have "reasonable cause to believe" or "reason to suspect" abuse has occurred. RCW 74.34.035. This standard remains consistent with the statutory immunity from liability afforded to mandatory reporters who make reports in good faith. RCW 74.34.050.

A mandatory reporter does not have to determine intent before reporting. RCW 74.34.035. Mandatory reporters do not make legal determinations as to whether the basis for their reasonable belief in fact meets the legal definition of abuse. RCW 74.34.050. That determination is made only after the Department investigates a report and makes a decision that the facts meet the legal standard for a finding of abuse. RCW 74.34.067(7), (10).

Finally, mandatory reporters are individuals who have dedicated their lives to caring for and protecting vulnerable adults and children, including employees of the Department, police officers, health care providers, and school personnel. RCW 74.34.020(13). To allege that such individuals would fail to speak up if they perceived an abusive situation, particularly given their immunity, is

an unwarranted affront to the people we entrust to protect vulnerable adults.

The Department has failed to show how the *Crosswhite* decision will make vulnerable adults less safe. It has not shown how punishing individuals for unintentional behavior will prevent future abuse. Although the State has an interest in protecting vulnerable adults, review of the *Crosswhite* decision is not a matter of substantial public interest where there is no correlation between the decision and protections available for vulnerable adults or the Department's ability to receive and investigate reports of abuse and provide protective services to vulnerable adults.

4. The Court Should Deny Review Because a Decision on the Issue is Unnecessary to Avoid Confusion. 4

This Court should deny review because the *Crosswhite* decision clarifies, rather than confuses, the issues. *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016). The Department's misinterpretation of the statute leads it to mistakenly believe that *Crosswhite* ignores "a panoply of abusive harms" in the statute.

⁴ The Department also argues that a decision from this Court has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts and administrative tribunals. However, it cites to two decisions that have already been decided, and one case, *Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv. v. Karanjah*, No. 48666-1-II, where oral argument occurred on January 26, 2017, and a decision is forthcoming.

Petition for Review, p. 14. The Department's reliance on the subcategories of abuse as evidence of the "panoply of harms" is misplaced.

Under the statute, before a finding of abuse can be entered, the Department must prove three things: (1) willfulness to harm (intent); (2) that the action constitutes physical, mental, or sexual abuse or exploitation (action); and (3) that the action results in injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment (harm) ⁵ ⁶. RCW 74.34.020 (2014); *Crosswhite*, slip op., p. 9. The subcategories of abuse, such as physical abuse, mental abuse, sexual abuse and exploitation, all set out a non-exhaustive list of *actions* that constitute the basis for each subcategory. RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014). For instance, the subcategory of physical abuse is defined as "... inflicting bodily injury or physical mistreatment" and includes, but is not limited to "striking with or without an object, slapping, pinching, choking, kicking, shoving,

⁵ Only when the vulnerable adult is unable to express physical harm, pain, or mental anguish is harm presumed. RCW 74.34.020(2) (2014).

⁶ The Department is correct in its example that an owner of an adult family home exerting influence over a vulnerable adult in order to obtain free janitorial services does not constitute a finding of abuse without a showing of injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment. That does not mean that the action is not immoral, violates other laws, or could be a basis for a protection order. It simply means that a lifetime finding of abuse cannot be entered without a finding of harm.

prodding, or use of chemical restraints or physical restraints"

RCW 74.34.020(2)(b) (2014). While these actions are presumptively harmful, simply finding that the action occurred without the intent to harm, or actual harm, is not sufficient under the statute to support a finding of physical abuse.

The Crosswhite decision does not confuse this issue or ignore a "panoply of harms" but rather clarifies the intent and harm elements. Therefore, it does not constitute a substantial public interest.

 The Court Should Deny Review Because Whether a Court, in its Discretion, Reverses or Remands a Case, Particularly in a Fact Intensive Case, is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

When the appellant court considers a case under the Administrative Proceeding Act (APA), they may, among other options, set aside an agency action. RCW 35.05.574(1). Similarly, under the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the court "may reverse, affirm, or modify the decision being reviewed and take any action as the merits of the case and the interest of justice may require." RAP 12.2. Despite this wide discretion, the Department argues that the Court was *required* to remand the case because, as the Department alleges, the Court issued "a new standard." Petition for Review, p.

19. The Department cites no authority for this proposition.⁷ Petition for Review, p. 19.

First, the Court of Appeals did not articulate a new standard but rather interpreted an existing standard. Second, the Court's decision to reverse, instead of remand, the case was within its authority under the APA and broad appellate discretion. Petitioner exhausted her administrative remedies, including a full fact-finding hearing at which both parties had the opportunity to present evidence, confront witnesses, and argue their positions. The Court did not abuse its discretion when it determined that the record and findings by the ALJ and Review Judge were sufficient to provide a meaningful direct review of Ms. Crosswhite's substantial evidence challenge. *Crosswhite* slip op., at 20. The APA specifically mandates a reviewing court "to grant relief from an agency order in an adjudicative proceeding" if it determines that "the order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the

⁷ The Department relies on *Jenkins v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 160 Wn.2d 287, 302-303, 157 P.3d 388 (2007). However, *Jenkins* does not stand for the proposition that when the court articulates a new standard the case must be remanded. Rather, *Jenkins* found that the shared living rule violated the federal comparability law and remanded the case "for determination of the amount of care hours DSHS wrongfully withheld" *Jenkins*, 160 Wn.2d at 300, 303. Additional factual findings were required in order to provide the petitioners with the appropriate remedy.

whole record before the court...." RCW 34.05.570(3)(e).

Third, and most importantly, the Department has failed to establish how the decision to reverse, instead of remand, which only impacts Ms. Crosswhite, involves an issue of substantial public interest. It does not.

6. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Crosswhite Decision Did Not Change the Substantial Evidence Test.

The Court of Appeals appropriately applied the substantial evidence test to Ms. Crosswhite's challenged findings of fact and properly relied on federal law to interpret the APA. The Department argues that the Court improperly changed the substantial evidence test to require "a more searching review" of an agency review judge's factual findings where they conflict with the ALJ's findings of fact. This is not correct.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the substantial evidence test to the challenged findings of fact. It did not change this standard but rather closely scrutinized the Review Judge's findings of fact, which differed in material ways from the ALJ's findings, particularly findings the ALJ could have only made based on witness testimony. This complies with explicit APA requirement, "[i]n reviewing findings of fact by presiding officers, the reviewing officers

shall give due regard to the presiding officer's opportunity to observe the witnesses." RCW 34.05.464(4); WAC 388-02-0600(1).

In this scrutiny, the Court of Appeals correctly relied upon federal case law to guide how to analyze discrepancies between the ALJ's and Review Judge's findings. Considering federal case law when analyzing the APA is Washington policy and practice. RCW 34.05.001; See, e.g., Allan v. University of Washington, 140 Wn.2d 323, 327, 997 P.2d 360, 362 (2000) (relying upon federal case law to determine standing under the APA); Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 405, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). The Court of Appeals did not err in looking to federal law for guidance in its substantial evidence review.

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